MOUNTAIN-PLAINS CONSORTIUM

MPC 24-572 | M. Ramezanpourkami and X. Zhu

WINTER SAFETY IMPROVEMENT WITH COMPUTER VISION AND TRANSFER LEARNING





A University Transportation Center sponsored by the U.S. Department of Transportation serving the Mountain-Plains Region. Consortium members:

Colorado State University North Dakota State University South Dakota State University University of Colorado Denver University of Denver University of Utah Utah State University University of Wyoming

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No.	2. Government Accession N	lo. 3.	Recipient's Catalog No.
MPC-698			
4. Title and Subtitle		5.	Report Date
Winter Safety Improvement with Computer Vision and Learning			October 2024
		Transfer 6.	Performing Organization Code
7. Author(s)		8.	Performing Organization Report No.
Moein Ramezanpourkami			MPC 24-572
Xuan Zhu			
9. Performing Organization Name and Add	Iress	10). Work Unit No. (TRAIS)
Department of Civil and Environmer University of Utah 110 Central Campus Dr. MCE BLDG, Suite 2000 Salt Lake City, UT, 84112	ntal Engineering	11	I. Contract or Grant No.
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Addres	S	13	3. Type of Report and Period Covered
Mountain-Plains Consortium			Final Report
North Dakota State University		14	Sponsoring Agency Code
PO Box 6050, Fargo, ND 58108			
Supported by a grant from the US DOT, University Transportation Centers Program 16. Abstract The preservation of road safety in snowy regions during the winter season is of paramount significance due to the presence of perilous meteorological circumstances, such as snowstorms, which can result in escalated vehicular collisions and subsequent roadway closure. In the present investigation, our primary objective is to devise a novel methodology aimed at tackling the aforementioned obstacle. This is achieved through the utilization of a hybridized system that incorporates both thermal and optical imagery to identify snow accumulation on road surfaces. By employing transfer learning techniques in conjunction with the U-Net architecture implemented in the Keras framework, our approach demonstrates notable efficacy in attaining precise outcomes, even when confronted with the limitations imposed by a restricted dataset. Our results demonstrate notable mean pixel accuracy (MPA) scores of 88% for roadway snow detection based on optical images captured during daytime and 94% based on thermal images acquired during nighttime. The encouraging results observed in this study underscore the potential of our dual-spectrum imaging technique to greatly improve road safety and reduce the number of collisions in winter conditions.			
17. Key Word		18. Distribution Statem	nent
connected vehicles, data mining, detection and identification systems, highway safety, road weather information systems, slipperiness, thermal imagery, warning systems, winter			
		Public distribution	
19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified	20. Security Classif. (Unclassifie	of this page) ed	21. No. of Pages 22. Price 21 n/a
Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72)	Reproduction of completed	page authorized	I

Winter Safety Improvement with Computer Vision and Transfer Learning

Moein Ramezanpourkami

Xuan Zhu

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering University of Utah Salt Lake City, Utah

Acknowledgements

This research would not have been possible without the guidance and technical support from Jeff Williams and Cody Oppermann with the Utah DOT.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented. This document is disseminated under the sponsorship of the Department of Transportation, University Transportation Centers Program, in the interest of information exchange. The U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

North Dakota State University does not discriminate in its programs and activities on the basis of age, color, gender expression/identity, genetic information, marital status, national origin, participation in lawful off-campus activity, physical or mental disability, pregnancy, public assistance status, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation, spousal relationship to current employee, or veteran status, as applicable. Direct inquiries to Vice Provost, Title IX/ADA Coordinator, Old Main 100, (701) 231-7708, https://doi.org/ndsu.edu.

ABSTRACT

The preservation of road safety in snowy regions during the winter season is of paramount significance due to the presence of perilous meteorological circumstances, such as snowstorms, which can result in escalated vehicular collisions and subsequent roadway closure. In the present investigation, our primary objective is to devise a novel methodology aimed at tackling the aforementioned obstacle. This is achieved through the utilization of a hybridized system that incorporates both thermal and optical imagery to identify snow accumulation on road surfaces. By employing transfer learning techniques in conjunction with the U-Net architecture implemented in the Keras framework, our approach demonstrates notable efficacy in attaining precise outcomes, even when confronted with the limitations imposed by a restricted dataset. Our results demonstrate notable mean pixel accuracy (MPA) scores of 88% for roadway snow detection based on optical images captured during daytime and 94% based on thermal images acquired during nighttime. The encouraging results observed in this study underscore the potential of our dual-spectrum imaging technique to greatly improve road safety and reduce the number of collisions in winter conditions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
2.	MATERIAL AND METHODS	3
	2.1 Data Collection	3
	2.2 Image Registration	4
	2.3 Transfer Learning	5
3.	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	7
4.	CONCLUSIONS	.12
5.	REFERENCES	.13

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1	Performance of optimal transfer learning model (with five trainable layers) based on the data collected during the first winter season	7
Table 3.2	Evaluating the performance of three distinct machine learning approaches for detecting roadway snow based on data collected from the US 89 test site during the first winter season.	8

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	I-80 test site (a) location (1), and (b) camera installation. Park City test site (c) location, and (d) test setup with a portable trailer	. 3
Figure 2.2	Example of image registration process involving (a) thermal image, (b) optical image, and (c) the corresponding registered image collected at the I-80 test site	.4
Figure 2.3	Example of image registration process involving optical thermal image, registered optical image, and the thermal image with enhanced contrast collected at the Park City test site	. 5
Figure 2.4	Transfer learning model architecture	. 6
Figure 3.1	Assessing the model performance using various trainable layers and datasets, including both optical and thermal images, collected from the I-80 field site from November 2022 to April 2023	. 7
Figure 3.2	Parametric study: (a) performance evaluation with various number of data; (b) the relationship between the training time and number of trainable layers based on the data collected from the first winter season	. 8
Figure 3.3	Model predications alongside the mask (ground truth) and original images (a) and (b): examples of thermal images recorded at nighttime from the US 89 test site; (c) and (d): examples of optical images captured during daytime from the I-80 test site	. 9
Figure 3.4	Training and validation losses using thermal images (left) and optical images (right) based on data collected during daytime from the I-80 and Park City test sites in the second winter season	11
Figure 3.5	Model predications alongside the mask (ground truth) and original images based on optical images captured during daytime from the I-80 test site during the second winter season	11

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Safety is a principal concern for highway transportation, and slippery roads can pose high risks for vehicle crashes in snowy regions, which cover about 70% of road networks in the United States. Slippery road conditions can significantly increase the risk of vehicle crashes. Therefore, roadway agency staff find it critical to clear road surfaces in time to ensure traffic safety during ice and snow seasons. The capability to estimate multi-lane roadway snow coverage is instrumental for snow plowing performance evaluation during winter seasons in snowy regions. The goal of this project was to develop a convenient tool capable of multi-lane snow coverage estimation in winter seasons. The researchers developed a sensing technology to evaluate multi-lane roadway snow coverage leveraging non-contact dual-spectrum cameras, computer vision, and machine learning algorithms. The use of optical and infrared images for slippery roadway condition detection has the potential to operate in different illumination conditions. Computer vision algorithms were developed to perform image registration, segmentation, lane splitting, classification, and clustering. To account for the relatively limited data volume, the team also established a transfer learning framework, which greatly eliminated the need for training a large number of hyperparameters. The transfer learning algorithm achieved an impressive precision of 94% when using dual-spectrum images. The utilization of the transfer learning model proves to be particularly advantageous with a relatively small amount of labeled optical and infrared image data. The efficacy of the U-Net transfer learning model generally demonstrated similar or superior performance when compared with that of the computer vision algorithms.

1. INTRODUCTION

Slippery roadway conditions have posed high risks of vehicle collisions in snowy regions during winter seasons. Considering that friction coefficients of rubber tires on snow, compact snow, and ice surfaces are significantly lower than those of rubber tires on dry road surfaces, snowy and icy road conditions can lengthen vehicle braking distances and increase the risks of vehicle collisions. According to Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) safety statistics, vehicle crashes due to slippery (snowy or icy) road conditions lead to an annual average of 1,300 deaths and 116,800 injuries. Therefore, effective winter roadway maintenance is crucial to ensure traffic safety in snowy regions. Researchers have spearheaded a transformative shift in roadway condition analysis, employing cutting-edge image processing and machine learning (ML) techniques, with a primary focus on assessing slipperiness and weather patterns. These advancements capitalize on the immense potential of optical and thermal images, enabling a more comprehensive understanding of roadway slippery conditions. He et al. devised a groundbreaking methodology, integrating image processing techniques and ML algorithms, such as k-means clustering and support vector machines (SVMs), to evaluate multi-lane road slipperiness. By leveraging both optical and infrared images captured by a dual-spectrum camera, they achieved remarkable accuracy in identifying the snow-covered pixel percentage for each lane (1). Similarly, Landry et al. contributed to this field by estimating snow coverage using surveillance cameras and proposing a powerful ensemble ML model combining convolutional neural networks (CNN) and SVMs. The results of their study demonstrated superior accuracy compared with existing research (2). Aparna et al. approached the challenge of pothole detection with a commendable approach, collecting a diverse dataset of thermal images under various weather conditions. Through data augmentation techniques and leveraging a CNN model, they successfully identified potholes, addressing a critical aspect of roadway safety (3). To address the limitations of traditional image recognition technology for road recognition in intelligent driving systems, Cheng et al. proposed an innovative deep learning approach, which significantly enhanced the classification of road surface conditions, meeting the demand for rapid and accurate roadway condition monitoring (4).

ML approaches have found widespread use in infrastructure inspections, transforming the way we monitor and manage vital infrastructure assets. One of the primary benefits of ML in this domain is its capacity to process massive amounts of data from diverse sources, such as sensors, cameras, and historical records. ML models can assess these data in real time more precisely and effectively than traditional approaches, discovering defects, anomalies, and potential hazards. ML algorithms excel at predictive maintenance, allowing for the early detection of possible problems before they become costly breakdowns (5–7). ML-powered image identification and computer vision algorithms are critical in examining infrastructure components such as bridges, roads, and buildings (8). While the benefits of ML in infrastructure inspections are obvious, traditional ML algorithms do have disadvantages. They often necessitate massive volumes of labeled data for training, which can be time-consuming and expensive to obtain. To solve these obstacles, researchers and engineers are investigating alternate methodologies such as transfer learning. Transfer learning approaches enable the application of knowledge from previously trained models on unrelated tasks to the specific infrastructure inspection task at hand. More recently, researchers intensified their focus on transfer learning as a means to augment the accuracy of roadway condition evaluations. This exciting avenue of research holds immense promise, enabling models trained on related tasks to be fine-tuned and applied to road condition analysis, thereby enriching the accuracy and robustness of the assessments. Transfer learning is an advanced ML technique that enhances the performance of a model on a new, related task by leveraging knowledge gained from training on various tasks. Rather than starting from scratch, a pre-trained model is utilized as a starting point and then finetuned on the new task using a smaller, task-specific dataset. This approach is particularly valuable in scenarios where data are limited, computational resources are constrained, or when aiming to achieve state-of-the-art performance across different domains (9) (10). One notable example of transfer learning's success in roadway condition assessment comes from Brewer et al. Their innovative approach involved

employing a pre-trained CNN model based on data collected in the United States for assessing roadway conditions in Nigeria. By adapting the U.S. model with Nigeria-specific data, they achieved an impressive 94.0% accuracy in predicting the quality of Nigerian roads. This showcased how transfer learning can effectively bridge the gap between different regions and adapt models to local conditions, leading to highly accurate predictions (11). Additionally, Arya et al. demonstrated the versatility of transfer learning by training a comprehensive CNN model using roadway condition images taken by smartphones in Japan. They then fine-tuned this model for other countries by mixing the Japanese data with local data. This clever strategy allowed other countries to create their efficient models based on the pre-trained Japanese model. By doing so, they harnessed the power of transfer learning to optimize their model performance, even with limited local data (12).

The objective of this project is to improve the efficiency of automated roadway snow detection systems through the utilization of transfer learning methodologies, specifically in scenarios where data availability is constrained. The research endeavors to enhance the efficiency and precision of snow detection on road surfaces in winter conditions by leveraging a blend of optical and thermal images. This is achieved through the implementation of the U-Net architecture within the Keras framework, which facilitates the development of a novel approach. The present study aims to provide empirical evidence supporting the notion that the proposed methodology exhibits enhanced efficacy in the realm of roadway snow detection, surpassing the capabilities of preceding systems while concurrently offering a viable solution to the obstacles presented by the scarcity of available data. The research outcomes could contribute to mitigating the risks of slippery roadway conditions and enhance winter roadway safety.

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

This section presents a comprehensive overview of data collection, data pre-processing, and transfer learning model development.

2.1 Data Collection

Based on the expected precipitation and accessibility, the team identified two field test sites for data collection. The first site was located close to the I-80 Parleys Canyon RWIS station, Salt Lake City, Utah, as shown in Figure 2.1(a). Data collection was conducted using the compact thermal image streaming camera, FLIR A50, chosen for its exceptional features tailored to winter road conditions. The camera's notable attributes include a frame rate of 30 Hz, spectral range of 7.5–14.0 μ m, fixed focus with adjustable options, and spatial resolution ranging from 1.2 to 4.0 mrad/pixel. With an infrared resolution of 464 × 348 pixels and visual resolution of 1,280 × 960 pixels, complemented by low thermal sensitivity (<35 mK for 29° and 51° FOV, and <45 mK for 95° FOV), the FLIR A50 excels at detecting temperature variations and capturing detailed imagery even in extremely cold conditions (ranging from -20°C to 175°C). Its accuracy of ±2°C or ±2% of reading ensures precise temperature measurements, while the simultaneous capture of infrared and optical images enables comprehensive analysis, making it an invaluable tool for winter road maintenance. The camera installation can be found in Figure 2.1(b). This data collection system operated continuously at the I-80 field site from November 2022 to April 2023 and November 2023 to April 2024, effectively capturing optical and infrared images through multiple winter storms characterized by significant roadway snow accumulation.

The second field site is located near the Park City RWIS station, Utah, as illustrated in Figure 2.1(c). We installed an InfiRay IRS-FB462A dual-spectrum bullet camera, with an operating temperature ranging from -40°C to 70°C, to an extendable pole on the trailer via a customized fixture. Details of the dual-spectrum camera configuration and data acquisition system can be found in (1). A portable trailer continuously powered the data collection system with sets of batteries and solar panels, as shown in Figure 2.1(d). This system operated at the Park City field site from November 2023 to April 2024, during which three winter storms with significant accumulation of roadway snow were observed. These recorded images were regularly saved and transferred for further processing and analysis, providing a valuable winter road surface measurement dataset.



Figure 2.1 I-80 test site (a) location (1), and (b) camera installation. Park City test site (c) location, and (d) test setup with a portable trailer

2.2 Image Registration

This study involved the implementation of image registration techniques to achieve the alignment of thermal and optical images obtained from separate sensors. This alignment was crucial in order to facilitate enhanced data fusion and subsequent analysis of the acquired images. The process of image registration holds significant importance as it encompasses the spatial alignment of images from two lenses, thereby establishing pixel-to-pixel correspondence between them. In order to address spatial discrepancies that may arise from variations in lens locations and perspective angles, our objective was to achieve precise alignment of thermal and optical images. The team implemented the utilization of geometric transformation – the affine transformation model.

$$\begin{bmatrix} X'\\Y'\\1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a & b & c\\d & e & f\\1 & 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} X\\Y\\1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(1)

The coordinates (X, Y) correspond to a specific pixel in the thermal image, while the transformed coordinates (X', Y') correspond to the same pixel in the aligned optical image. The transformation is defined by the parameters $\{a, b, c, d, e, f\}$, which represent the scaling, rotation, and translation components of the transformation. By implementing this registration methodology, it becomes possible to effectively integrate the thermal and optical data, thereby facilitating a thorough examination and augmenting the comprehension of the observed scene. Figures 2.2 and 2.3 illustrate the image registration process, showcasing the precise alignment of thermal and optical images from the I-80 eastbound lanes and the Park City test site using the affine transformation model represented in Equation 1. As shown in these two figures, the optical images are cropped and transformed to align with the thermal images. Considering the optical images have a higher resolution and wider field of view (FOV), they are registered for further analysis.



Figure 2.2 Example of image registration process involving (a) thermal image, (b) optical image, and (c) the corresponding registered image collected at the I-80 test site



Figure 2.3 Example of image registration process involving optical thermal image, registered optical image, and the thermal image with enhanced contrast collected at the Park City test site

2.3 Transfer Learning

The transfer learning methodology was utilized in our study, where we employed the U-Net architecture within the Keras framework. Transfer learning enabled us to harness the capabilities of a pre-existing U-Net model, tailored explicitly for image segmentation, and customize it to suit our particular problem domain. The U-Net architecture is well known for its capacity to precisely define object boundaries in images, making it an excellent option for locating snow-covered road areas. By initializing the U-Net architecture with pre-trained weights obtained from a substantial dataset, we could utilize the acquired knowledge from a wide variety of images. This initialization process facilitated the model to effectively capture low-level and high-level features pertinent to our specific task. In order to adapt the U-Net model to our particular application, we conducted fine-tuning of the final layers to maintain the overall feature extraction capabilities and mitigate the risk of overfitting, given the constraints of our limited snow dataset. Figure 2.4 shows the transfer learning model architecture implemented for roadway snow detection.



Figure 2.4 Transfer learning model architecture

We assessed the model's performance by using both quantitative and visual assessment techniques. We used a U-Net architecture to train the model. The U-Net was initially trained on a large dataset and then fine-tuned specifically for our image segmentation task. In order to evaluate its performance in a quantitative manner, we calculated the categorical cross-entropy loss using a distinct test dataset. The model's ability to accurately segment objects in nighttime images improves as the loss decreases. We also computed the mean pixel accuracy (MPA) to assess the accuracy of segmentation. MPA represents the percentage of pixels that are classified correctly in comparison to the ground truth masks.

$$MPA = \frac{TP + TN}{TP + TN + FP + FN}$$
(2)

where TP (true positives) is the number of pixels correctly classified as belonging to a particular class; TN (true negative) is the number of pixels correctly classified as not belonging to a particular class; FP (false positives) is defined as the number of pixels incorrectly classified as belonging to a particular class; and FN (false negatives) is the number of pixels incorrectly classified as not belonging to a particular class.

In addition, we saved the predicted segmentation masks and original test images to an output directory to gain visual insights of the model's segmentation capabilities. We can evaluate the model's ability to capture the objects of interest in the nighttime scenes by visually inspecting these images. By utilizing both quantitative metrics and visual evaluation, we were able to gain a comprehensive understanding of how well the transfer learning model performed and its capability to generalize to nighttime images that it had not seen before. The evaluation process allowed us to assess its segmentation performance and identify its strengths, weaknesses, and areas that could be improved further.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The aim of our research study was to develop an efficient and accurate model for detecting snow-covered roads using both thermal and optical images. We employed transfer learning to leverage pre-trained models and investigate the impact of the number of trainable layers on the training process, MPA, and test loss. The experiment involved varying the number of trainable layers in the model and analyzing its effect on the training process. Figure 3.1 reveals that setting the trainable layers to five led to the highest MPA and the lowest test loss for both optical and thermal image-based models based on the data collected at the I-80 field site from November 2022 to April 2023 (during the first winter season). This outcome indicated that striking a balance in the complexity of the model by controlling the number of trainable layers (the optimal layer design) is shown in Table 3.1.

during the first winter season.		
	Test Loss (min)	MPA (max)
Optical images	0.21	0.94
Thermal images	0.21	0.88

 Table 3.1 Performance of optimal transfer learning model

 (with five trainable layers) based on the data collected

 during the first winter season



Figure 3.1 Assessing the model performance using various trainable layers and datasets, including both optical and thermal images, collected from the I-80 field site from November 2022 to April 2023

The model's performance was assessed concerning the imaging modality used – thermal and optical images. Optical images display superior results during daytime due to their higher resolution and ample illumination. In contrast, the performance of the model with thermal images was slightly impacted during nighttime. Nonetheless, the MPA for the thermal image-based model remained at an acceptable level of 0.88, demonstrating its reliability under challenging conditions. The study also examined the impact of dataset size on the model performance. Surprisingly, Figure 3.2(a) indicates the model exhibited excellent

performance even with a very small dataset. As the dataset size is increased from 10 to 64 images, no significant improvement in the model's performance is observed. This finding emphasizes the effectiveness of transfer learning in leveraging pre-trained knowledge with limited training data. On the other hand, while a smaller dataset was sufficient to achieve good results, there was a noticeable trade-off in terms of training time. Figure 3.2(b) demonstrates the time required for model training escalates significantly as the number of trainable layers increases. Researchers and practitioners must consider this trade-off when deploying the system, as larger datasets may demand more computational resources and time for training.



Figure 3.2 Parametric study: (a) performance evaluation with various number of data; (b) the relationship between the training time and number of trainable layers based on the data collected from the first winter season

The results of our study demonstrate the successful utilization of thermal and optical images for snow detection on roads. By employing transfer learning, we achieved efficient and accurate results, making the approach suitable for real-time applications. Controlling the number of trainable layers proved to be essential in optimizing the model performance as it influenced the complexity and generalization capabilities. Table 3.2 evaluates the precision of different ML models for the task of roadway snow detection. Precision is a metric used to measure the proportion of true positive predictions among all positive predictions made by the model. In this context, it indicates how accurate the models are in identifying instances of roadway snow using optical and thermal images.

Table 3.2 Evaluating the performance of three distinct machine learning approaches for detecting roadway snow based on data collected from the US 89 test site during

the first winter season		
MPA (Precision)	Optical	Thermal
Transfer learning model	0.94	0.88
K-means clustering (1)	0.69	0.91

Support vector machines (1)

The transfer learning model demonstrated notable performance in terms of precision for both optical and thermal images, achieving a precision score of 0.94 and 0.88, respectively. The obtained high precision scores indicate that the model exhibits a commendable level of effectiveness in accurately detecting

0.69

0.87

instances of roadway snow for both image types. The precision values obtained from the k-means model for the optical and thermal images are 0.69 and 0.91, respectively. The observed scores suggest that the model exhibits a relatively lower precision when applied to optical images in comparison with thermal data. The findings suggest that the accuracy of k-means clustering in detecting instances of roadway snow-coverage in the optical data is relatively lower. The precision values obtained for the SVM model are 0.69 for the optical data and 0.87 for the thermal data. The observed values exhibit similarities to those of k-means clustering, further reinforcing the notion that SVMs demonstrate lower precision in the context of optical data when compared with thermal data.

The findings of this study indicate that the transfer learning model consistently demonstrates superior performance in terms of precision when compared to both k-means clustering and SVM algorithms, specifically in the context of analyzing optical and thermal images. The performance of k-means clustering and support vector machines exhibits variations when applied to optical and thermal data. The results obtained from our experiments indicate that k-means clustering exhibits a higher level of precision when applied to thermal data as opposed to optical data. Conversely, SVMs demonstrate comparable performance on both types of data. The findings of this study indicate that the utilization of transfer learning and fine-tuning techniques on task-specific data results in improved accuracy in the detection of roadway snow.



Figure 3.3 Model predications alongside the mask (ground truth) and original images.(a) and (b): examples of thermal images recorded at nighttime from the US 89 test site; (c) and (d): examples of optical images captured during daytime from the I-80 test site.



Figure 3.4 Training and validation losses using thermal images (left) and optical images (right) based on data collected during daytime from the I-80 and Park City test sites in the second winter season.



Figure 3.5 Model predications alongside the mask (ground truth) and original images based on optical images captured during daytime from the I-80 test site during the second winter season

The comparison between thermal and optical images highlighted their respective strengths and weaknesses. Optical images provided superior results during daytime, making them highly suitable for well-illuminated conditions. On the other hand, the thermal image-based model performance was relatively better during nighttime, though slightly lower compared with optical images during the day. The study's findings also shed light on the advantages of transfer learning in scenarios with limited training data. Even with a small dataset, the model demonstrated impressive performance, saving significant efforts in data collection and annotation. However, the trade-off between dataset size and training time should be carefully considered when scaling up the system. Examples of using the optical images collected from the first winter season are shown in Figure 3.3. Satisfactory performance of the transfer learning models based on data collected during the second winter season is shown in Figures 3.4 and 3.5.

4. CONCLUSIONS

This report effectively examined the identification of snow-covered roadways by employing a novel amalgamation of thermal and optical imagery. By harnessing the capabilities of transfer learning using the U-Net architecture implemented in the Keras framework, our research has yielded encouraging outcomes. The system exhibited noteworthy performance in terms of MPA across different image types. Specifically, it achieved an MPA of 88% for daytime optical images and an impressive 94% for nighttime thermal images, despite the constraints imposed by a limited dataset. The achievement described herein represents a noteworthy advancement in the automation of snow detection systems, which aim to enhance operational effectiveness and expediency in challenging meteorological circumstances, all while operating within the confines of limited data volume.

Through the utilization of transfer learning, our methodology demonstrated its capacity to enhance the efficacy of automated snow detection systems, all while circumventing the need for an extensive dataset. The utilization of this approach proved to be particularly advantageous in scenarios where the acquisition of a substantial amount of labeled data presents challenges or requires a significant time investment. The demonstrated efficacy of the U-Net architecture in the context of snow detection on roads highlights its suitability for this particular task, thereby establishing its significance as a valuable instrument for both future investigations and practical implementations. Furthermore, the attainment of elevated MPA for both optical and thermal images verifies the adaptability and resilience of our approach, enabling it to operate efficiently under diverse lighting and meteorological circumstances.

Based on our research, the obtained results present promising prospects for the improvement of road safety and transportation in adverse weather conditions. The enhanced velocity and efficacy of our automated snow detection system holds the potential to assist governing bodies in formulating well-informed judgments and executing prompt measures to alleviate perilous road conditions. As the progression of technology persists, our investigation establishes the fundamental basis for subsequent enhancement and streamlining of snow detection systems. These systems hold the potential to be seamlessly integrated into intelligent transportation systems, thereby augmenting winter roadway safety in snowy regions.

5. **REFERENCES**

1. X. He, Y. Wu, K. Zhang, X. Zhu, and X. Yang, "Roadway Snow Detection Using Dual-Spectrum Camera Images and Computer Vision," *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, p. 036119812311605, Apr. 2023.

2. F. G. Landry and M. A. Akhloufi, "Deep Learning and Computer Vision Techniques for Estimating Snow Coverage on Roads using Surveillance Cameras," in AVSS 2022 – 18th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Video and Signal-Based Surveillance, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022. doi: 10.1109/AVSS56176.2022.9959452.

3. Aparna, Y. Bhatia, R. Rai, V. Gupta, N. Aggarwal, and A. Akula, "Convolutional neural networks based potholes detection using thermal imaging," *Journal of King Saud University – Computer and Information Sciences*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 578–588, Mar. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.jksuci.2019.02.004.

4. L. Cheng, X. Zhang, and J. Shen, "Road surface condition classification using deep learning," *Journal of Visual Communication and Image Representation*, vol. 64, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jvcir.2019.102638.

5. T. G. Mondal and G. Chen, "Artificial intelligence in civil infrastructure health monitoring— Historical perspectives, current trends, and future visions," *Frontiers in Built Environment*, vol. 8, Sep. 2022, doi: 10.3389/fbuil.2022.1007886.

6. P. Mohammadi, A. Rashidi, M. Malekzadeh, and S. Tiwari, "Evaluating various machine learning algorithms for automated inspection of culverts," *Engineering Analysis with Boundary Elements*, vol. 148, pp. 366–375, Mar. 2023, doi: 10.1016/j.enganabound.2023.01.007.

7. F. Wedel and S. Marx, "Application of machine learning methods on real bridge monitoring data," *Engineering Structures*, vol. 250, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.1016/j.engstruct.2021.113365.

8. B. F. Spencer, V. Hoskere, and Y. Narazaki, "Advances in Computer Vision-Based Civil Infrastructure Inspection and Monitoring," *Engineering*, vol. 5, no. 2. Elsevier Ltd, pp. 199–222, Apr. 01, 2019. doi: 10.1016/j.eng.2018.11.030.

9. F. Zhuang et al., "A Comprehensive Survey on Transfer Learning," *Proceedings of the IEEE, vol. 109, no. 1. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc.*, pp. 43–76, Jan. 01, 2021. doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2020.3004555.

10. A. W. Salehi et al., "A Study of CNN and Transfer Learning in Medical Imaging: Advantages, Challenges, Future Scope," *Sustainability* (Switzerland), vol. 15, no. 7. MDPI, Apr. 01, 2023. doi: 10.3390/su15075930.

11. E. Brewer, J. Lin, P. Kemper, J. Hennin, and D. Runfola, "Predicting road quality using high resolution satellite imagery: A transfer learning approach," *PLoS One*, vol. 16, no. 7 July, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253370.

12. A. A. Maarouf and F. Hachouf, "Transfer Learning-based Ensemble Deep Learning for Road Cracks Detection," in *ICAASE 2022 - 5th Edition of the International Conference on Advanced Aspects of Software Engineering, Proceedings*, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc., 2022. doi: 10.1109/ICAASE56196.2022.9931581.